
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.

Please ask for:
Marie Lowe

* Reporting to Cabinet
15 June 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL to be held on Monday 25 June 2018 at 7.30pm in the 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN 

To note that Councillors J.Boulton and T.Kingsbury were appointed Chairman and 
Vice Chairman of the Committee for the 2018/19 municipal year at the Cabinet 
meeting on 5 June 2018.

2.  SUBSTITUTIONS 

To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19 – 22.

3.  APOLOGIES 

4.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 April 2018 
(previously circulated). 

5.  ACTIONS UPDATE  (Pages 5 - 6)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which lists the actions from previous meetings and their current status.

Public Document Pack



6.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 12 

7.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 

8.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS 

Up to fifteen minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions.

9.  STRATEGIC CHALLENGES AND RESPONSES 

Presentation from the Corporate Director (Housing and Community) and Head of 
Community and Housing Strategy giving a summary of the Council’s strategic 
challenges and responses to these.

10.  AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT JUNE 2018 
(Pages 7 - 24)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) updating Members 
on the Council’s Affordable Housing Programme (AHP).

11.  WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19  (Pages 25 - 26)

The pro-forma which sets out the Panel’s work programme has been updated 
since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be considered to take 
place. 

12.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 

13.  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Panel is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for items 14 and 15 (if any) on the 
grounds that they involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt 
information as defined in Section 100A(3) and Paragraph 4 (consultations or 
negotiations relating to labour relations) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act 
(as amended). 

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 



PART II

14.  WATER HYGIENE/TESTING COMMUNAL HOUSING (Pages 27 - 32)

Exempt report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities Services) 
setting out the Council’s obligations to ensure that all cold water storage tanks and 
communal systems are free from Legionella Bacteria, and that they conform to The 
Control of Legionella Bacteria in Water Systems L8 regulations (for the control of 
legionella bacteria in water systems).

15.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors J.Boulton (Chairman)
T.Kingsbury (Vice-Chairman)
M.Birleson
M.Cook
C.Gillett
S.Glick

M.Holloway
T.Jackson-Mynott
R.Lass
H.Quenet
F.Thomson

Co-opted Members:-
Tenants’ Panel Representatives

D.Fuller and R.Read

Independent Representatives

R.Paris and S.Smith

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Services Unit on 01707 357443 or email –democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 4

Main author: Marie Lowe
Executive Member: Cllr Roger Trigg

Not Ward Specific

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 16 APRIL 2018
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

ACTIONS STATUS REPORT

1 Executive Summary

1.1 In order to ensure that actions identified at meetings are completed, this report lists 
the actions from the meeting of the Cabinet Housing on 16 April 2018, those 
responsible for completing each action and their current status.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Members note the status of actions which were identified at the 16 April 2018 
meeting of the Committee.

Minute Action Responsible
Status/
Date Completed

65. Update On New Build Projects - 
Furzen Crescent And Garden 
Avenue And Potential 
Development Opportunities 
Within The Borough.

65.

Sarah Newman On this meeting’s 
agenda 

66. Welwyn Hatfield Tenants Panel 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Review Of 
The Repairs Call Centre

66.

Chairman of the 
Tenant’s Panel – 
Rose Read

On the Work 
Programme for the 
meeting on 6 August 
2018

67. Private Sector Adaptations 
Contract

67.

Andy Luck Report back to Member 
by the end of this 
calendar year 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Main author: Jeremy Morton 
Executive Member: Mandy Perkins
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET HOUSING PANEL– 25 JUNE 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITY)

AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT JUNE 2018

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the council’s Affordable 
Housing Programme (AHP). Updates will be provided to this committee twice a year. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee note the content of this report.

3 Explanation

3.1 At their meeting of the 4th December 2012 Cabinet agreed a range of methods to 
deliver the council’s Affordable Housing Programme (AHP) and that a monitoring 
report should be presented to this committee, setting out the budget and 
progress in delivering new affordable homes.  An overview of progress to date 
are attached at Appendix A and B.

3.2 The AHP is managed via an officer project group which meets monthly and 
overseen by a steering group which meets bi – monthly. The Leader of the 
council is a member of the steering group, which provides strategic direction, 
considers the budget and recommends any reallocation of funds between 
different delivery methods as required.

3.3 A strategic review of the Affordable Housing Programme was completed in 
February 2016 and in June 2016 Cabinet approved the proposed Vision 
Statement, key aims and a delivery plan to deliver 600 affordable homes by 
2021.  The attached appendices provide an overview and update on progress 

3.4 The current Registered Provider Frame work Group is now due for review and 
options are being discussed with the council procurement manager

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The council has signed an agreement with the government to deliver the AHP using 
the available Right to Buy Receipts in accordance with the rules in the agreement.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 The budget for the programme is monitored through the normal budgetary control 
reports and by a detailed review every six months to CHP.

5.2 In summary there have been 449 sales to date under the Right to Buy between 
2012/13 and 2017/18.  As of mid-May 2018 there had been 3 further sales.  
These have resulted in retained receipts of £32.751m.  We have plans to fully 

Page 7

Agenda Item 10



utilise these receipts during the programme period.  There is an accrued interest 
penalty on unused receipts (should we not meet our spending targets) 

5.3 The capital budget for the programme for 2018/19 is £16.546m which will be met 
according to the annual plan.  The pooling requirement for current year is 
£11.303m and therefore, overall this will be met.  It is worth noting that for quarter 
one (18/19) there is a high target to meet the required expenditure and this is 
being closely monitored. 

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The affordable housing Programme has a risk management strategy in place 
which is regularly monitored by the project and steering group with separate risk 
registers for each initiative and project.

6.2 The programme is highlighted on the council’s Corporate Risk Register.

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no direct security and terrorism implications in this report or the 
Affordable Housing Programme 

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications in relation to this report 

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The delivery of new affordable homes provides mechanisms for a range of 
products and initiatives that help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel 
poverty. New homes are built to high standards that help address climate change 
concerns including CO2, water and waste reduction; use of local labour and 
transport and modern methods of construction all consider the green footprint.

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority 3 Meet the 
borough’s housing needs and specifically to the council’s statutory requirements 
under the Homelessness legislation.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with this 
report, as this is for information only. An EIA is in place for the AHP and EIAs are 
carried out for specific initiatives and projects that are part of the AHP as required.

Name of author Jeremy Morton Extension 2723
Title Principal Housing Development Manger
Date 25 May 2018

Background papers to be listed 

Cabinet report 4th December 2012
Cabinet report 14th June 2016 Strategic Review Affordable Housing Programme
Appendix A     Affordable Housing Programme Overview 
Appendix B     Affordable Housing Programme Monitoring

Page 8



Affordable Housing Programme Overview May 2018

1

Appendix A
Affordable Housing Programme Overview May 2018

Completed Schemes 30 May 2018 Status/Total Numbers 
Delivered

Cherry Way  new build Funding  to Paradigm Housing Completed  4

Elizabeth Close new build Funding to Welwyn Garden City HA Completed 3

Sir Fredrick Osborn new build Funding to High Town Praetorian Completed 5

Phase 1 former garage site 
disposals to Registered 
Provider new build

Funding to Welwyn Garden City HA Completed 17

Open Market Purchase A mixture of two, three and four bedroom houses, 
now managed by the council
78x3bh  (17 being former HMO properties)
20x2bh
5x2bb
8x4bh

Completed
31/3/18

111

Open Market Purchase RP One and two bedroom flats purchased with grant 
funding

Completed 5

Lilac Close / (was Furzen 
Crescent garage site) new 
build

7 x 2 bed houses  owned and managed by the 
council 

Completed 7

Conversion of Registered 
Provider property from 
shared ownership to rent 
Essendon

1 x 2 bed family unit Completed 1

Limetree court / (was Garden 
Avenue garage site) new build

14x 2bed flats ( one fully adapted wheelchair units 
)  6 x 1 bed flats 

22

Total completed 175

P
age 9



Affordable Housing Programme Overview May 2018

2

Current Schemes - 
targets

2018/19 2019/20 Progress to date (May 2018 ) Progress to date

Open market 
purchase Council

30 
current 
target 

7 purchased, 7 offers accepted,  On target 7

Phase 2 garage site 
disposals to 
Registered Provider

16    5 Planning secured.
Sites tendered. Bids evaluated and Welwyn Garden 
City Housing Association selected. 
RP on site at Hillcrest / Cowper Road and Great 
Gannet (16 units)
Land transfer for The Firs being progressed
 (2 units)
Birchwood Close site - revised planning application 
required due to utility company – electric substation 
and revised location of 1 unit.

Initial  target for 
completion  late 
2018/ 19 

0

Phase 3 garage 
sites

TBC Initial feasibility work complete, further detailed 
work / searches / surveys to be agreed and 
undertaken. 
2 sites submitted for formal pre planning advice  
prior to submission  (8 possible  units). 
Further internal strategic decisions on sites required 
at CMT.
 

Target numbers 
and dates to be 
set.

0

Northdown Road – 
direct construction 
for council 

8 8 Redevelopment of 16 studio flats to deliver 16 one 
bedroom properties.
Start on site achieved (Taylor French) – demolition 
work in phased stages.

On target
 

0

Little Mead – direct 
construction for 
council 

7 Planning secured, procurement for construction 
company and evaluation complete 

On target.  0

P
age 10



Affordable Housing Programme Overview May 2018

3

Contract has been let to Potter Rapier Partnership, 
start on site in July. 

Minster House 
Redevelopment of 
sheltered housing -    
direct construction 
for council.

TBC
Estimate 
70 units

Proposal is to provide a higher density and 
modernised sheltered housing scheme.  Decanting 
process underway.  Plans being drawn up prior to 
submission to planning.

On target 0

Howlands House – 
redevelopment and  
direct construction  
by the council 

TBC
Estimate 
80+units

Agreement on demolition and re provision to 
provide additional and modernised temporary 
accommodation.  Pre planning  advice in progress; 
planning submission  programmed for  July 2018   
with procurement for construction partner to follow 

On target 0

Onslow school site  
- funding to RP

15 In negotiation with Home group to purchase 
additional homes on a wider residential new build 
development of 87 homes. Planning application 
submitted July 17.  Viability assessment submitted 
by developer and outcome of independent appraisal 
awaited. Cabinet report approved November  17

On target 0P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix B

Affordable Housing Programme (AHP) 

AHP Progress June  2018
 (schemes recently completed, underway and at various stages of 

development )

Total units

Phase Two garage sites
The council submitted planning applications for a second phase of former 
garage sites for disposal to the council’s Registered Provider framework group. 
All six schemes have been approved and these are to be progressed with 
Welwyn Garden City Housing Association. This includes the land transfers and 
other related site assembly issues, with start on sites on a phased programme 
for construction in 2017/18. 

The demolition of the Hillcrest garages is complete and good progress has 
been made on construction since October 17; Cowper Road commenced 
construction in November; land transfer and a start on site with demolition 
commenced at Break mead/ Great Gannet in March 18; the land transfer at 
The Firs and a start on site is being progressed and targeted for June 18.

A revised planning application is needed for Birchwood close due to prior 
unknown conditions required for the utility company. 

All the properties will be for rent, owned by the RP, with the council receiving 
nomination rights.

Knightsfield / the Firs:   2 x 2 bedroom bungalows
Little Ganett :                1 x 2 bed house
Birchwood close :         1 x 2 bed house and 1 x 3 bed house
Cowper Road WGC:    3 x 2 bed bungalows
Breakmead  WGC:       5 x 3 bed houses 
Hillcrest Hatfield :         8 x 2 bed houses

Hillcrest site prior to start on site

21

Page 13



On site at Hillcrest

Little Ganett 1 x 2 bed house

Birchwood Close 2 x 
2 bed house 

Cowper Road 3 x 2 bed 
bungalows

Page 14



 Cowper Road bungalows under construction

Phase 3  development proposals

Page 15



A further package of sites are being considered to deliver new affordable 
homes. Work is ongoing to agree suitable deliverable sites. 

It is hoped that a package of suitable sites will be able to deliver in the region 
of 25 properties.

Council Direct Construction
The council obtained planning approval on two former garage sites at Garden 
Avenue and Furzen Crescent in Hatfield. Mears New Homes were selected to 
construct both schemes. Construction is complete at both sites.

Properties have now all been let and occupied and new tenants made 
selections of tenant’s choice items prior to moving in.

Garden Avenue – “Lime Tree Court”    was delayed primarily due to highways   
and utility company requirements and completion was in May. 

 Furzen Crescent –“ Lilac Close “ completed in February and the new tenants  
all moved in

Garden Avenue – Lime Tree Court

Est 25

29

Garden Avenue, 
Hatfield 14 x 2 bed 
flats and 8 x 1 bed 
flats

Page 16



Page 17



Furzen Crescent – Lilac Close

      

  

Furzen Crescent,  
Lilac Close 
Hatfield 7 x 2 bed 
houses

Page 18



   

Page 19



7

Page 20



Northdown Road 

Sixteen new self-contained flats in Northdown Road Hatfield, on the site of low 
demand bedsits.  Taylor French selected via the Member Procurement Board 
and approved by Cabinet in April 17. Work has started on site and demolition 
of two blocks has been completed.  A range of pre-construction complexities 
have been resolved that included utility (electric services), asbestos and fire 
safety issues. The flats will be for rent and owned and managed by the council

16

 

Northdown Road, Hatfield 
16 x 1 bed flats

Page 21



Demolition above and New 1st floor  below  

Page 22



Council Open Market Purchases

The total number of properties now purchased is 111. Our target for 2018/19 is 
to purchase 30 properties. We have purchased 7 properties and had 7 offers 
accepted. 

Other schemes

Little  Mead Hatfield  

The planning application was approved on the 17th August 2017 and  
procurement for a construction partner completed in February 2018, with a 
recommendation from the members procurement board agreed at the April 
Cabinet to appoint FSG Property Services Ltd . The scheme will deliver 4 x 3 
bed houses and 3 x 2 bed houses for rent, to be owned and managed by the 
council. A ‘meet the builder’ event is being arranged and anticipated start 
onsite in late July/August 218

30

7

Little Mead 4 x 3 
bed and 3 x 2 bed 
houses

Page 23



Further Opportunities

Onslow site Hatfield 

The Council is currently working with Home Housing Group as part of their 
proposal to deliver 87 homes on part of the Onslow school site in Hatfield. A 
minimum of 30% of these homes should be delivered as affordable and part of 
the planning requirement, without grant.  Evidence has been submitted as part 
of the planning process to demonstrate the viability and the scheme which may 
not support the full 30% requirement. The council will consider funding to 
secure additional affordable units. Currently the council and Home Group are 
working on an agreement to purchase 15 x 2 bed room houses which will be 
over and above the S106 requirement.

Older person Housing / Sheltered / retirement housing 

One of the objectives of the council’s Older Person Housing Strategy is to 
deliver a new purpose built housing scheme.  A suitable site at Minster House 
was agreed and consultation completed with those impacted by the proposals 

Arrangements to decant the current occupiers are ongoing and progressing 
well.  

Rock Townsend Architect has been selected to take the project forward to a 
detailed planning submission.     

Temporary  accommodation

Following detailed discussion with the council’s housing options team and work 
by architects Pellings, formal Pre application advice has been received on 
proposals to provide a new purpose built temporary accommodation and 
replacement for Howlands House in WGC.

A planning application is being prepared for submission by July/ August 2018. 
This will be to deliver a modern block with increased numbers of units and bed 
spaces, allow adaptability of use to meet change in demand and clients and 
belter more suitable accommodation that provided separate e bathrooms and 
toilet facilities with no require to share such facilities. The aim will be to prepare 
for  procurement seeking a construction partner  as soon as possible after a 
planning approval 

A range of other initiatives are currently being considered and CHP will be 
updated as these progress.

15

TBC – 
estimate 70

TBC – 
estimate 80

Page 24



CABINET HOUSING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19

DATE OF 
MEETING 

REPORTS REPORT AUTHORS
SERVICE AREAS

25 June 2018  Summary of our strategic challenges and responses to these – presentation 
 AHP update
 Water Hygiene/Testing Communal Housing Part II

Simone Russell
Jeremy Morton
Peter Gray

6 August 2018  Housing Operations transformation update 
 Quarter One KPIs 
 Update to Members on independent report by Campbell Tickell on our housing 

delivery options 
 Scrutiny Panel – review of Repairs Call Centre 
 Better Care Fund/Disabled Facilities Grant report from the Agenda – this will 

move to August

Stuart Pearson
All
Simone Russell
Rose Read  
Sian Chambers

20 September 2018

25 October 2018  HRA Business Plan and Development Strategy
 Quarter 2 KPIs 2018/19

10 December 2018  AHP update Jeremy Morton

16 January 2019  Quarter 3 KPIs 2018/19 All

11 March 2019

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 27

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 ACTIONS UPDATE
	10 AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT JUNE 2018
	10a - AHP monitoring App A 06 18
	10b - AHP monitoring App B 06 18

	11 WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19
	14 WATER HYGIENE/TESTING COMMUNAL HOUSING

